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order are similar to the sample recovered from Feature 1, which is believed to date to
the late 1820s as well (Figure 24). This includes the dominance of pots ("crocks") over
jars, of small capacity jugs over large capacity jugs, and the presence of table pitchers
that would soon fall from regional markets.

Standing in contrast to each of the samples from the Ebey-Brunk Site, however,
is the lack of kitchen bowls (which dominate the archaeological samples from the site) in
the 1828 order. This may simply reflect the needs of the Springfield merchants at that
particular time, or it may also reflect a difference in vessel terminology between 1828
and present day. It seems possible that a class of the thick bodied, incurved "kitchen
bowls" found at the site (which were often difficult to separate from storage pots) were in
fact grouped into the "crock" category in the 1828 invoice. When references to "small
crocks" are placed into the food preparation category, the sample from the invoice more
closely resembles that of Feature 1 (Figure 26, right). Further, if the table dishes and
plates - which may have been made by special order - were to be removed from the
Feature 1 food service category, the two samples would appear even more similar.

Kiln and Invoice Assemblages

. Storage

. Food Prep

D Food Service
D Other Vessels

Fea 1 (c1827-32) 1828 Invoice 1828 Invoice - alt

FIGURE 26: Comparisons between the Feature 1 vessel assemblage (left), the 1828
Newcomer invoice (middle), and vessels from that invoice reinterpreted (right).

Particularly during the earliest years of the pottery, much of the ware made at the
site was turned by experienced or talented potters. These vessels are finely potted, and
the bulk of the wasters appear to be the result of breakage due to glaze adherence or
poor stacking, as opposed to loss of control of heat and flame. When such problems did
occur, it seems that wares were more often overfired than underfired.

Based on the temporal separation between Feature 1 (circa 1827-32) and Units 1
and 2 (ca. 1830-50), it would appear that the output at the Cotton Hill pottery changed
over time (Figure 27). Most noticeably, food service vessels played a much less
important role at the pottery after the mid-1830s. The small demand for redware dishes
and table bowls present in the 1820s and early 1830s probably faded rapidly during the
mid-1830s. Multipurpose kitchen bowls were always an important product at the kiln,
however, and this importance increased over time. The slight decrease in the
percentage of pots produced over time may reflect the increased competition (after
1835) of more durable and less toxic stoneware pots - pioneered by potters such as
George and John Ebey.
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Vessel Form Assemblages : Temporal Differences

! “ ‘ . Storage

0 : . Food Prep
it -] Food service
¢ D Other Vessels

Fea 1 (c1827-32) Unit 2 (c1830-40) Unit 1 (c1830-50)

FIGURE 27: Vessel form assemblages from Feature 1, Unit 2, and Unit 1.

It is difficult to discuss the distribution of a particular redware potter’'s work on
domestic archaeological sites. Most of the wares made by potters such as the Royals,
Ebeys, and David Brunk were nondescript pots and bowls, finished with “generic”
bolster rims. Further, the differences in redware clays across lllinois are subtle, and
reliable attribution of wares to particular regional clay sources awaits mineralogical
analysis of wasters recovered from Kiln sites.

Certain stylistic attributes of some of the wares made at the Ebey-Brunk Site do
lend themselves to recognition elsewhere. Several of the distinctive footed, undecorated
dishes have been recovered from pre-1835 features (associated with storekeepers John
McNamar and Samuel Hill) at the commercial village of New Salem in nearby Menard
County (Mazrim and Naglich 1996; 82), as has a smoking pipe identical to those found
at the Ebey-Brunk Site. The unusual horizontal strap-handled pots and distinctive green
glazed table bowls made by Ebey or the Royals before 1835 should also be
recognizable in domestic assemblages of the period.

BUYING REDWARE IN ILLINOIS BEFORE 1840

In a recent study of 15 frontier-context sites in lllinois (dating from ca. 1815 to
1835), it was found that the range of redware and stoneware vessel forms consumed
during the period was reasonably restricted, but patterns of consumption within that
range of vessels varied considerably between various settlement regions (Mazrim
2002).

The range of crockery vessel forms recovered from sites predating 1835 in
lllinois is generally limited to small to medium capacity pots, jugs, multipurpose kitchen
bowls, and the occasional refined table vessel. Vessels that bespeak of more specific
foodways traditions, such as pipkins, mush mugs, porringers, pie plates, or bean pots,
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are rarely encountered in frontier lllinois contexts. The wares at the Ebey-Brunk Site,
then, appear to reflect the norm across the state during the frontier period.

The somewhat restricted nature of these assemblages is reflective in part of the
needs of the principal ethnic group to settle lllinois before 1835: Upland Southerners of
Scotch-Irish ancestry (farmers from Kentucky, Tennessee, Georgia and the Carolinas).
Broadly speaking, dietary traditions associated with the Upland South include a
preference for pork, wild game, and whisky, to the lesser importance of beef and diary
related products (McWhiney 1988; 82-85). The lack of milk pans, pipkins, and slip
decorated pie plates (tied more directly to New England and Pennsylvania German
dietary traditions) may reflect the dominance of Upland Southern culture prior to 1840,
and its affect on regionally-produced material culture such as redware.

During the early nineteenth century in lllinois, redware products were imported by
wholesale merchants only during the earliest years of settlement, and country
merchants who bought imported Queenswares and other goods at St. Louis appear to
have bought little crockery there (Mazrim 2002; 245-248, Mazrim and Walthall 2002).
When redware kilns appear in the 1820s in lllinois, most of their products were not well
marketed beyond the immediate region where they were manufactured. Instead, local
merchants bought local crockery, or bought little at all. The result is an eclectic pattern
of crockery consumption between households of various regions within lllinois.

In the greater American Bottom region, for instance, proximity to the St. Louis
markets was probably responsible for a range of imported wares not seen elsewhere in
lllinois. This included slip decorated redware dishes and pie plates imported from the
Upper Ohio Valley, and French kitchen bowls reflective of the lingering presence of the
French trade at St. Louis (Mazrim 2002; 265-268). In northwestern lllinois, the lack of a
regional pottery industry prior to 1840 appears to have significantly impacted the use of
such wares in the households of that region (Mazrim 2002; 209, Mazrim 2003).

The rarity of redware kiln site excavations in the Midwest provides few
comparisons to the wares made by the potters at Cotton Hill. In lllinois, only two other
earthenware kiln sites have produced samples large enough to compare to those at
Ebey-Brunk, although smaller surface collections have been made at several others.

Jo Daviess County, in northwestern lllinois, became an important redware
manufacturing center after 1840, and the potteries there operated long after redware
had been eclipsed by stoneware in most midwestern markets. Excavations at the
Galena and Elizabeth potteries have produced samples of redware made between ca.
1850 an 1880 (Mansberger 1994).

Figure 28 compares the vessel form assemblages from the Ebey-Brunk Site to
those at the Elizabeth and Galena potteries in Jo Daviess County. The Elizabeth pottery
was in operation between 1850 and 1880, and was established by the Sackett family.
The Sacketts were also proprietors of the nearby Galena Pottery, and the vessels from
that site presented here for comparison were made between 1854 and 1870.
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Vessel Form Assemblages: Cotton Hill & Galena

& pot

.jar

Ejug

D kitchen bowl
D pan

Etable dish
E'E:]table bowl
table pitcher
chamber pot
A tlower pot

Ebey-Brunk Pottery Elizabeth Pottery Galena Pottery

FIGURE 28: Combined Ebey-Brunk vessel form assemblage, compared to Galena assemblages.

Samples from both Galena-area sites exhibit a lack of tablewares, probably
reflecting the later date of those potteries. Also notable is the larger percentage of jars
(over pots) at these potteries. Such vessels would have offered better-sealed, longer
term storage than the wide mouth pots of the early nineteenth century. Evident at both
the Ebey-Brunk and Galena-area potteries is the continued importance of the
nondescript, multipurpose kitchen bowl, which dominates all of the samples.

The continued manufacture of redware food service vessels (such as dishes,
pitchers and bowls) at Cotton Hill - in the face of the popular, inexpensive, and
decorative English refined wares - is noteworthy. Prior to the introduction of inexpensive
English creamware and pearlware during the eighteenth century, colonial American
redware potters produced large quantities of tablewares, competing with those imported
from England (e.g. Pendery 1985). The Ebey and Royal families would have been quite
familiar with such wares while living in Pennsylvania.

The manufacture of redware dishes and table bowls at the Ebey-Brunk Site for
the purposes of competing with English pearlware imports, however, seems unlikely.
Inexpensive and fashionable tablewares and teawares from England were readily
available at even the most remote lllinois community during the 1820s, and
archaeological sites from that period make it clear that very few families did without
them.

John Ebey and the Royal brothers would not have made redware dishes to sell to
those who could not obtain or afford those made in England. Instead, such vessels
seem to reflect particular traditional needs that functioned independently of the
developments of international products such as English Queensware. Potters such as
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those at Cotton Hill not only provided the storage pots that were too heavy and too
inexpensive to bother importing, but they also appear to have filled a need for what
were probably “old fashioned” wares that had never been mass produced. These
included green glazed table bowls, undecorated “dirt dishes”, and festive, slip decorated
dishes. Such vessels were clearly not a large part of the potter's inventory in lllinois, and
may have been made primarily by special request. Further, these products might have
been more sentimental than practical, reflecting traditions that were largely forgotten by
the end of the nineteenth century.

The last recorded use of a redware vessel made by David Brunk was in the
1970s, when a small lead glazed bowl made by the potter was still being used to water
chickens on a Brunk family farm in Sangamon County. David’s great-great
granddaughter, Helen Brunk, rescued the vessel after it was broken by freezing water,
and it is still in her family’s possession today (Helen Brunk, personal communication
1991).

The Cotton Hill district provided raw material and a market for at least nine
potters during the earliest days of redware manufacturing in lllinois. Here, these young
men developed their craft while studying the nature of local and regional clays. Most of
the potters left Sangamon County in the mid-1830s, spreading out across west central
lllinois. The Ebey brothers had correctly predicted the importance of stoneware clays,
and by the mid nineteenth century, stoneware vessels were the dominant form of
crockery in most regions of the state. Potters such as David Brunk continued to find a
market for their traditional redwares until just prior to the Civil War, but after 1860, very
little redware was being sold in central lllinois. By the 1870s, most of the fragile vessels
had broken and were replaced with stoneware. By the turn of the century, the redware
tradition of Cotton Hill remained only in the area’s archaeological record, with the
exception of a few tucked-away vessels such as the little bowl that was watering
chickens on the Brunk family farm.
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APPENDIX 1
THE HORSE CREEK KILN

A second Cotton Hill area kiln site was discovered in 1990, during the Phase One
survey of the proposed Hunter Lake reservoir impoundment. The site consisted of a
scatter of redware waster debris, along with at least one associated, long-term
nineteenth century domestic scatter. Based on temporally diagnostic refined ceramics
from the domestic scatter, the site appears to have been first occupied as early as the
1830s. The combined site was designated Locus 300/301 (Ahler et. al. 1994; G4).

The 80 acre parcel on which this kiln is located was first purchased from the
government by George Brunk in December of 1827. Brunk had entered another nearby
80-acre parcel a year earlier, on which he (or Thomas Royal) erected a substantial
limestone house. It was on the basis of George Brunk’s relationship with the potter
David Brunk that the Horse Creek kiln site was linked to David Brunk (Mansberger and
Mazrim 1994). Further, David Brunk purchased an adjacent 40 acre parcel in 1835. This
property was located entirely in the Horse Creek bottom, and may have been purchased
for a clay mine.

Given the small sample from the single surface collection, it is difficult to assign
a date or duration for the kiln site, or the exact age and relationship of the associated
domestic scatter. Although George Brunk was the first to purchase the land, the Brunk
family’s initial association with the site lasted only 14 months: George Brunk sold the
eastern 30 acres of the parcel (on which the kiln site is located) in January of 1829. The
purchaser, John Gulliford, was not a member of the Brunk Clan. Gulliford sold the
property to John Deardorff in February of 1840. Deardorff was a member of the Brunk
clan, although he was not known as a potter. By 1858, the parcel was owned by “Brunk,
Knolls and others” (Ledlie 1858).

Some of the material from Locus 300/301 was reexamined in 1995 (Mazrim
1997). Obvious stylistic differences between the wares from this site and those at Ebey-
Brunk were noted, including the use of squared or everted rims (Figure 29), and the
occasional use of a lighter, grayish-color slip in the lead glaze. Many of the sherds from
this site exhibit a higher degree of iron-oxide speckling in the glaze, perhaps suggesting
a different clay source for these wares than those associated with the pre-1840
products at the Ebey-Brunk Site. Vessel forms consist of bowls and small capacity pots.
No tablewares are present in the sample.

During the 1995 analysis (as well as the original 1990 survey study), several
apparently unique sherds in the assemblage were identified as stoneware, due to their
semi-vitrified pastes and what appeared to be overfired Albany slips. Given the early
association of the site with George Brunk, it was also suggested that this kiln site may
have been where John Ebey experimented with stoneware clays in 1827 (Mazrim
1997). Subsequent analysis of a much wider range of wasters from the Ebey-Brunk
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Site, however, now suggests that these may in fact be simply overfired redware vessels,
whose thick, manganese glazes took on a Albany-like appearance. Further, the archival
and archaeological evidence now more strongly suggests that Ebey’s earliest activity
activity at the Ebey-Brunk Site,

probably occurred at the Ebey-Brunk Site.

the thought occurs that some of

Brunk'’s later activity may been

focused on the Horse Creek

Site. The site may have also r
been associated with other

known or unknown potters

working in the community

between 1840 and 1860. ' ’
| H N

ONE INCH

More testing will be
necessary to determine the date
of occupation of Horse Creek
kiln. With the return of the
property to the Brunk-clan in
1840, and considering the
paucity of evidence of post-1845

FIGURE 29: Selected rim profiles from the Horse Creek kiln site.
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APPENDIX 2
AN EARTHENWARE POTTERY AT ATHENS, ILLINOIS.

The town of Athens, located in the southeastern portion of Menard county, was
platted in 1831, and is located approximately 25 miles northwest of the Ebey-Brunk Site.
Menard County was part of Sangamon County prior to 1839. County histories indicate
that during the 1840s, Athens was known for its pottery trade:

One of the earliest industries of Athens, and for which Athens was noted
in the early days, was the manufacture of pottery from the clay found
here...One of the first pottery factories in Athens was operated by Jacob
Ramsey on the present site of the Mrs. Virginia Bell residence...Ramsey
it is said left Athens in great haste when a number of spurious currency
bills had found their way into the channels of trade. Circumstances finally
pointed to Ramsey...John Pierson afterward operated a pottery here, as
did also the firm of Gable and Sackett.

[Harris n.d. :10]

Potter Barnett Ramsey moved to lllinois from Pennsylvania during the late 1830s
(Mounce 1989b). An unnamed store ledger from Athens (on file at the Athens Public
Library) lists Richard, Barnett, and William Ramsey as customers between 1838 and
1841. Whether or not this William Ramsey is the same individual that was associated
with the Ebey-Brunk pottery is unclear, as that individual is thought to have moved to
Greene County in the mid-1830s.

Barnett Ramsey advertised for a runaway “indentured apprentice to the potters
business“ named Richard Boyd, on April 10 1845. Ramsey offered a “one cent reward”
for Boyd's return (lllinois State Journal 4/10/1845). Barnett Ramsey sold his pottery at
Athens to J.W. Frackleton in 1848. Frackleton offered to “supply all calls for articles in
the pottery line”, and solicited orders from across central lllinois, which would be filled at
the "farmers store” in Athens (Mounce 1989b).

Ramsey may have stayed at the shop for a time, however. In another unnamed
Athens store ledger, he is listed as having exchanged “crocks” (valued at 121/2 to 50
cents each) for credit in the store during the fall of 1849. Further, he is listed as making
earthenware in the 1850 industrial census. Also in 1850, Ramsey served as the
administrator to the estate of George Smith - who may have been the same individual
who apprenticed for David Brunk ten years earlier (lllinois State Journal 5/11/1850).

The partnership of “Gabel and Sackett”, mentioned in Harris’ reminiscence,
probably referred to Goble and Sackett - families associated with significant and well-
documented nineteenth century redware potteries in the towns of Galena and Elizabeth,
in northwestern Jo Daviess County (Horney 1965, Mansberger 1994). The apparent
origins of their pottery trade in central lllinois comes as a surprise, and is poorly
understood. Both the Goble and Sackett familes purchased property in Athens during
the 1830s, and members of the Sackett family were enumerated in the 1850 population
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census of Menard County. John Pierson, also mentioned in Harris’ history, is present in
the 1860 Menard County industrial census as a maker of earthenware.

Although additional chain of title research will be necessary, it is believed that the
kiln site occupied by Ramsey in the 1840s (and possibly the previous and subsequent
potters) was destroyed by a housing development in the 1960s. A small quantity of
redware body sherds were recovered from a flower garden at the site. The sherds have
a metallic appearance indicative of underfired manganese glaze, and several are
spalled or delaminated, perhaps as a result of a poor “fit” between glazes and clay
bodies.

Surface collections and test excavations have been conducted by the author at
three 1830s-50s farmsteads situated one mile south of Athens. These have produced a
moderate quantity of redware with attributes similar to the specimens found at the
Athens kiln site. Vessels from the domestic sites include kitchen bowls pots, and thick-
bodied jars (Figure 30).

_H N

ONE INCH

FIGURE 30: Selected redware rim profiles from surface
collections at the Jordan #3 Site, south of Athens.
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APPENDIX 3
AN UNUSUAL STONEWARE POT

A unique stoneware pot associated with the career of John Ebey was found in
downtown Springfield, lllinois in the 1990s. Excavated by bottle collector David Beeler,
the fragmentary, two-gallon, salt-glazed jar was found in a privy feature dating to the
1870s. The unique aspect of this particular jar is its cobalt stenciled mark, reading “J.N.
EBEY / SPRINGFIELD ILL.” (Figure 31).

As discussed above, John Neff Ebey operated a redware kiln in Springfield for
short period in the early 1830s, prior to moving to Whitehall in 1833. While Ebey is
known to have experimented with stoneware while still in Sangamon County, this
straight walled pot with a thick, Albany slipped interior is morphologically diagnostic to
the second half of the nineteenth century - circa 1850-70.

John Neff Ebey had relocated to Ripley, lllinois (Brown County) by 1835, where
he manufactured stoneware until approximately 1850. His activities during the 1850s
are more poorly documented. He is known to have operated a pottery at Chapin for a
period, and was at Winchester as well (Mounce 1989a). John Neff Ebey returned to
Whitehall in 1863, where he manufactured stoneware with his son Charles, sometimes
marking pottery “EBEY & Co”. Stylistically, the “EBEY & Co” pots are quite similar to the
Springfield specimen, and may have been made during this period. Charles and John V.
Ebey took control of the Whitehall
pottery in 1882, and John Neff
died in 1893.

Although marked
“SPRINGFIELD ILL", there is no
evidence that Ebey (or anyone
else), was manufacturing
stoneware pottery in Sangamon
County after Ebey’s early
experiments in the late 1820s.
This mysterious stoneware pot
may have been made during the
1850s or 1860s, but why it was
marked Springfield is unclear.
Perhaps this pot, which has no
known compliment, may have
been designed as a "window
piece”, used to advertise wares in
Springfield that were .
manufactured elsewhere. ONE INCH

FIGURE 31: Stoneware pot with cobalt stencil.
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A GLOSSARY OF COMMON ARCHAEOLOGICAL TERMS

AQUA GLASS

The natural color of untinted glass. The most common and inexpensive type of glass used for bottles
blown during the 19th century.

ARCHAEOLOGY

A form of cultural anthropology that employs the controlled excavation of culturally disturbed soil, and the
study of artifacts found in association with these disturbances.

CREAMWARE

A modern term referring to a cream colored, refined earthenware developed in England during the 1750s.
Creamware was discontinued around 1820.

EARTHENWARE

Any form of low fired, refined or unrefined ceramic that is not vitrified, as is porcelain.

EXCAVATION UNIT
A controlled area of excavation of a prescribed size.

FEATURE

Any form of discrete human disturbance or alteration of the topsoil or subsoil. This can include a post
hole, a pit, a well, a foundation, or a concrete slab.

FLINT GLASS

A heavy, clear glass made with lead. Flint glass was the principal form of American-made glass
tablewares during the early to mid 19th century, and fell from common use during the early 1870s.

IRONSTONE

A 19th century product term used in conjunction with several types of refined ceramic, and an
archaeological term referring specifically to a thick-bodied, semi-vitrified earthenware that was introduced
around 1840. Ironstone is still manufactured today.

MIDDEN

A concentration of artifacts found in the topsoil that once surrounded a dwelling or activity area on a
particular site.

PEARLWARE

A modern term referring to a form of refined earthenware developed in England during the 1770s. Cobalt
blue glazes and enamels were used on pearlware vessels to imitate more expensive Chinese porcelains.
Pearlware was discontinued around 1830.

PONTIL

A scar on the base of a blown bottle, left behind from the removal of the bottle from a blowpipe or rod
after the finishing of the lip of the bottle. The development of the “snap case” around 1850 allowed bottles
to be produced without such scars. In America, pontil scars usually indicate that a bottle was made prior
to circa 1860.
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PROFILE

The crossection of an archaeological feature and its zones of fill.

PRIMARY DEPOSIT
Artifacts discarded directly and intentionally into a feature - such as the disposal of empty bottles into an
abandoned well.

QUEENSWARE

A product term coined by potter Josiah Wedgwood in the 1760s, referring to his new creamware
products. The term was adopted by most Staffordshire potters, and eventually referred to most forms of
inexpensive English earthenware. The term fell from use during the mid 19th century.

REDWARE

A term used to describe low-fired, unrefined crockery made of common red clays. Redware was usually
lead glazed, and was developed in the early medieval period in Europe. In North America, redware was
the principal form of utilitarian crockery from the late 1500s through the mid 1800s.

REFINED CERAMIC

Thin bodied, decorative ceramics which were manufactured most often for food service. Refined ceramics
include both vitrified porcelains and lower fired earthenwares. Today, all forms of refined ceramics are
often generically known as “china”.

SECONDARY DEPOSIT
Artifacts that were inadvertently included in the fill of a feature - such as the filing of an abandoned cellar
with debris-laden topsoil.

STONEWARE

A semi-vitrified form of unrefined crockery made of a gray colored clay. Stoneware required higher firing
temperatures than redware, and created more durable and food safe utilitarian crockery. Stoneware was
developed in late medieval Europe, and became common in the Midwestern United States during the
1830s. The term also applies to a form refined ceramic made in England during the mid 1700s.

UNREFINED CERAMIC
Heavy, coarser ceramic vessels designed primarily for food storage or preparation, as opposed to food
service. What we generically refer to as “crockery” today.

WHITEWARE

An archaeological term referring to a form of refined English earthenware, introduced around 1830.
Whiteware vessels were made with clearer glazes, as opposed to those traditionally tinted with blue. This
allowed for a new palette of painted and printed colors. Whiteware is still made today.

YELLOWWARE

A semi-refined form of ceramic made of a distinctive yellow clay. Made both in England and in America,
yellowware became popular in the Midwest during the early 1840s, and was most often used for kitchen
and toilet wares.
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